Using this Document

Only Pauline's player should read the sections "Pauline's Further Investigations" and "The Secret Life of Pauline Clarke". Only Patrick's player should read the sections "Patrick's Further Investigations" and " Patrick Donovan's Second Career". The other sections should be read by both of you.

Pauline Clarke

Pauline Clarke is a pretty woman in her early thirties. Her complexion is fair, even pale, and her eyes are green. She has long straight dark hair, which she usually ties back in a tight ponytail. She dresses exclusively in black (yes, she knows it gives off terrible bad vibes. That's the whole idea), preferring expensive fashionable clothes that are comfortably tight (what's the point of being thin if you don't wear thin people's clothes?). She wears contact lenses, or fashionable black-framed glasses, and her favorite accessories are a long black leather coat and a pair of round sunglasses. Pauline's make-up is minimal (or "natural") and any jewelry she wears is probably quite simple, silver or semi-precious stones ("New Age" gems).

Pauline's apartment in Greenwich Village is small (2 and a half rooms), decorated in a clean, minimalist style (creating the illusion of space). In addition to a bedroom, bathroom and living room / study / kitchen, she has a massage bench (Pauline practices Reiki and sometimes treats patients in her home. Her computer (a Macintosh) is in the living room, as is a peculiar ugly gorilla statuette, carved crudely out of wood, with a pair of glass eyes.

Pauline Clarke dropped out of college when she was 19. A self-taught expert on the occult, New Age trends and Magick, she's worked as a Tai Chi trainer, a Reiki healer, a gemstone and incense peddler in rock festivals, a fortuneteller, club promoter, artist's model, sound engineer, party organizer, copywriter, and website designer (back in 1997, when that was still cool). Back in 1998, she wrote a book called "Lilith's Start-Up", which applied the principals of Neo-Feminist Satanism to the New Economy. The book was fairly successful and lead to a career as a consultant and lecturer in the high-tech industry. Following her long stint with LIP, which forced her to decline offers from other customers, Pauline's consultant career seems to be on hiatus. She now puts down her career as "Reiki healer".

Pauline is basically an Atheist (her mother was Unitarian, her father is now a Buddhist monk in Japan), and sees magick as a means to an end. She's very open to new ideas, but very critical, and a strong believer in "hands on" experience. Chaos Magick is probably the system she feels most comfortable with.

Pauline's most notable friend/acquaintance, (in the campaign), was Rolf Bethke, a young computer programmer and Satanist. Rolf was in his early twenties, skinny, bald, brilliant, party-loving, paranoid and gay. He's now dead, killed in a fight by Michael McManaman. 

Patrick Donovan

Patrick Donovan is a likeable man in his early thirties, tall and athletic. He still sports a ski tan, has short dark hair and a well-trimmed beard. His eyes are brown. He wears tailored dark suits at work, which are remarkable only in their perfect fit, but favors rugged, outdoorsman clothes for casual wear - jeans, mountain boots, knitted sweaters and leather jackets, in light colors (white, tan and brown). He wears a plain gold wedding ring and an expensive diving watch.

Patrick has a tiny apartment in Paris from LIP, where he hasn't been in a while, and which a college of his uses to meet his mistress.

Patrick has an MBA from Harvard and a degree in Electronic Engineering from MIT. He's worked for Oracle, Cisco, Lehman Brothers and a couple of east coast start-ups before coming to LIP, and he's earned a well-justified reputation as someone who is able to initiate a project from scratch and guide it to completion.

In addition, Patrick is Catholic (his father was 3rd generation Irish-American, his mother French - a Breton), and is usually active in various volunteer groups organized by his local church. However, he is very far from being a fanatic or taking simplistic attitudes. 

Shared Background

The LIP Team

General:

Over a year ago, LIP (the Lumley Institute of [Para]Psychology), a worldwide consulting company, assigned Patrick Donovan (probably the most brilliant middle manager in their New York Office) to head a division called "Special Projects". The exact duties of this division were top secret, and the team Donovan put together was very small. It included Pauline Clarke (an outside consultant), Susan Wilson (an existing LIP employee, erroneously called "Sarah" the last time she surfaced...), and Michael Caine McMananman (who was recruited for the team).

Six months before the campaign began, MCM vanished and the "special projects" team at LIP was disbanded: Susan Wilson left the company, and Patrick Donovan was reassigned to the Paris office.

Background - LIP (Lumley Institute of Psychology)

Formerly the Lumley Institute of Parapsychology, and before that the Lumley Theosophical Institute, LIP was originally involved in Spiritualism and Theosophy, moved to Parapsychological research and later to nearly "straight" psychological counseling and personal growth seminars. Their current focus is on organizational psychology. LIP is an international company that provides consultation services to numerous large organizations, mostly in the corporate sector. They still dabble in anything from media analysis to trend prediction and celebrity horoscopes or biorhythm charts.

The interesting thing about LIP is that it routinely uses a set of quasi-occult techniques and methodologies for data analysis. These are based on the "LIP method", which is an independently developed system based on looking for patterns in seemingly unconnected information. While it avoids "New-Age" terminology and instead refers to Chaos theory and Jungian psychology, any critical analysis will show that it is mumbo-jumbo. Also, it appears that the "LIP method" is older than Chaos theory, and older manuals exist which describe the same techniques in theosophist terms.

Also, it appears to work.

Background - Lois Lumley: A Bigger Bitch Than Thou 

Lois Lumley is 99 years old (documentation exists that she was 22 in 1924), but looks a handsome and healthy 70. She is very, very rich, and has owned LIP since she founded it, back in 1928. She hasn't been involved in the daily operation of the company since the early Fifties, but does occasionally meet with some of the executives to discuss strategic issues. Also, Lois sometimes visits her office in the old offices of LIP, on the 64th floor of the Empire State Building. 

Lois has lived all her life in the house originally owned by her father, a two-story house with a garden in Manhattan (not far from Harlem, I think).

Lois' father, Eric Lumley, was an infamous occultist, although he also had a troubled academic career, produced some important papers on the subject of ancient languages, Sumerian Astrology, Greek Mystery cults and Chinese Alchemy. He vanished in 1924. Descended from a wealthy family, Lumley squandered most of his inheritance (the only real asset he left Lois was the house), but she has since vastly increased her fortune through investments made both by her and through LIP.

Personality-wise, Lois is remarkably charming and demure in person, elegant, polite and very classy. The only problem with this is that this persona has nothing to do with anything you know about Lois. 

Goals (Patrick & Pauline only):
The goal of the "special projects" team was defined by Lois Lumley, owner of LIP, in a private interview with Donovan: to investigate, understand and harness a means of traveling through time and to alternate realities. Ms. Lumley first provided him with proof (a 77 year old sex education pamphlet printed in 1968 in an alternate reality she referred to as "Nova Africa", where an independent African state existed in what was the southern part of United States). She then outlined that if travel through time and alternate realities were possible, they would have already occurred, and the evidence would be easy to find for someone who knew what he was looking for.

Project History:

1. The Carrier

Donovan first recruited Susan Wilson, LIP-NY's foremost data analyst to the team. He next brought in Pauline Clarke, an expert on magic and the occult. He needed her broad, interdisciplinary insights and fresh perspective to complement the systematic-but-rigid approach of the "LIP method". They then spent months combing photographic archives, folklore collections and news reports, analyzing the data with various sophisticated programs (most of which they had to write from scratch).

Slowly, they assembled a map, a network of "abnormal" places across the United States (most heavily detailed in the area of New York city), characterized by mysterious disappearances, strange sightings and other unexplained phenomena. By applying the LIP methodology, they found patterns in the locations of the anomalies, and the dates of the anomalous events that took place there. When looking at the distribution of the anomalous events over time, it was clear that there were two periods where the anomalies were most frequently reported: 1924 (actually, the period between December 1923 and April 1924), and the current year.

Investigating the 1924 connection, Patrick turned up a gruesome story about the murder of a newborn baby, abandoned in a train tunnel with its body covered with satanic markings. Pauline identified these markings as contemporary occultist sigils, appropriated from Chaos magic by a Satanist fringe movement. Against Patrick's suggestion, but with his knowledge, she struck up connections with some of these Satanists, who called themselves the Black Army. Two of them, Owen Rollins and Rolf Bethke, became her friends.

The most dramatic result of the research carried out by the "special projects" team came from in-depth analysis of thousands of historical and current photographs, which had turned up about 10 people whose faces seemed to recur repeatedly in photos taken at radically divergent eras and places. Of these people - Pauline jokingly called them "Reincarnates" - 2 were currently alive and could be located. Of the three, they chose to recruit Michael McManaman, a former CIA agent studying political science. Under hypnosis, he seemed to recall dozens of past lives, with uncanny detail.

His team assembled, Patrick decided to tour some of the "abnormal" places he suspected of being potential "rifts in time and space". However, they didn't learn much, until Pauline suggested they carry out a Voodoo ritual invoking Maitre Cairefour, the Loa of sorcery and the Opener of Ways.

The ritual worked. Michael seemed to become possessed by the Loa and ran down a subway tunnel. Following him, they found themselves in another time and place, where Aztec steamships were bombarding an Irish settlement on the island of Manhattan.

They escaped back quickly, and Patrick decided to try again. It wasn't enough to visit an alternate world, he said, they had to understand how to do so at will.

So they repeated their experiment several times, gradually learning how to direct their wanderings, until something inevitably went wrong, and they lost Michael: While returning from Berlin in the "Nova Africa" alternate, they experienced something unusual - instead of transitioning smoothly from one "reality" to the next, they had a clear and prolonged sensation of being "in between", in some form of "hyperspace" (Patrick's term). Worse yet, they became convinced that this space was not unoccupied - some form of presence was felt, and they experienced what they thought were visual and aural hallucinations. They panicked, ran, and emerged in the Ohio train station (their point of departure) two whole days after they had left - and without Michael.

2. Fragmentation

Shaken by their experience, Susan Wilson left the team in the wake of Michael's disappearance. Patrick and Pauline were split over how to continue, as well as over how to explain what they actually experienced. Patrick theorized that people like Michael (whom he termed a "carrier", because he was able to lead others through time and space, in a way a "carrier signal" is used to tune to specific frequencies) are naturally occurring phenomena. Pauline, on the other hand, saw Michael in mystical, even religious terms. She felt that there was something alien and inhuman about him - something superhuman.

Whatever Michael was, they needed another one of that kind.

 Pauline convinced Patrick that Lois Lumley must know more than she gave him in the briefing. They learned that her father, an infamous occultist, had disappeared in 1924. Eventually they dropped over her place for tea and a briefing. Lumley was tight lipped, or faking senility, but Patrick noticed an odd resemblance between the designs on the carpet in Ms. Lumley's living room and the map of abnormal loci they had put together.

Before they could investigate further, LIP management announced that the "special projects" division was to be dissolved. Patrick was re-assigned to the Paris office and Pauline was out of a job. However, they continued their investigations on their own, and kept in touch, sharing some (but not all) of their discoveries.

Pauline's Further Investigations

Sigilmania, Pattern Madness

Pauline kept messing with ideas, and on a hunch, decided to look for patterns in GPS data. She found that a GPS device belonging to a roving hacker called Henry Holmes seemed to trace the pattern on Lois' carpet in its wanderings across America.

Holmes was a hacker with some interest in the occult (Pauline suspected she'd read some of his posts on Usenet once), a drifter who wandered the country on a hi-tech motorcycle, and he'd recently been to some "self esteem" or "self actualization" workshop that apparently had some profound effect on him (or so she gathered in online gossip from his acquaintances in Internet chat rooms and mailing lists). She traveled around in his footsteps, looking for someone who knew him well in person. Few did, although many casual acquaintances remembered him. Interviewing people, she heard astounding accounts of someone who had seen Holmes fly in the air outside an Arizona motel, lift a truck in a gas station outside Ohio, and emerge casually unharmed from a vicious road accident West of Madison.

Pauline investigated the workshop Holmes had raved about, but found nothing unusual about it. Somehow, Holmes had developed these powers spontaneously.

However, there was another interesting connection - Holmes' occult dabbling had focused on Chaos Magick sigils, and Pauline's Satanist friends from the Black Army shared this interest. Pauline's investigations of the sigils convinced her that there was power in them - they could induce frightening headaches when she concentrated on them, for example. But the odd thing was that when you stared at them hard, and put them together, the sigils looked like pieces of the pattern on Lois Lumley's rug.

She tried to trace where those Sigils came from. Holmes and the Black Army Satanists had both got them from a message posted anonymously to SATAN-L, the Satanist mailing list, dated March 11th, 1995 and signed "Erl King". She found about a dozen other messages that she believed came from the same poster, dealing with sacred geometry, magick words and sounds, and the occult history of New York. The poster was intelligent, knowledgeable, insightful, and a bit too calculated in his postings, the last of which was dated September 11th, 1996.

Perplexed and frustrated by this dead end, Pauline decided to visit Lois again. She found her working in the rose garden in her backyard. Lois invited her in for a drink, leading her along an elaborate path into the house. They sat in the living room, where besides the distracting rug and a landscape painting of a castle on a hill, the only decorations were full-wall mirrors. Lois complained of a cramp in her hand and Pauline offered to heal it. Insistently, she took Lois' hand in hers, and looked up in shock.

The hand wasn't really cold, and there was a (very faint, alarmingly slow) pulse, but it was clear to her that she was touching a dead person. Looking at Lois carefully, it was obvious that there was something not right about this surprisingly healthy 99-year-old woman.

And then she met Lois' eyes, and saw something completely inhuman, something infinite.

She realized Lois was staring at her, and that the surprise was evident on her face.

Wordlessly, Lois got up and lead her to the basement, where a pattern - which had only been echoed faintly by the design in the rug - burned brightly in lines of fire.

Looking at the pattern, Pauline saw an offer of unlimited power. She stepped on it. Pain lanced her body, struck her like a thunderbolt. She took another step, and felt her mind open up to a flood of knowledge she could not put into words. All the sigils and all the patterns came together for her in a complete design. With each further step, she felt another insight arrive, as more and more lines of force seemed to pierce her body, pinning her to the pattern, until she felt literally crucified on a tree of Knowledge as big as the World Ash.

And then, half a dozen steps from the center of the Pattern, where she would surely attain transcendence, cold doubt intruded. Why was she doing this? Why was the Pattern seducing her with this power and knowledge? And what was Lois Lumley, or whatever unimaginable being currently inhabited her undead shell, wish to gain from leading her here?

Perhaps, she thought, as another step revealed to her more vistas of limitless promise, the creature had worn out its shell and needed another? Perhaps she - or rather her body - was to become Lois Lumley's replacement? She took another step, and this time she felt like a fly embedded in a spider's web, stretching out all around her into infinity.

She lifted her foot heavily to step off the pattern, and she saw the drop. She had reached so high, seen so far, and infinity was now in her grasp. Off the pattern, there was only blind ignorance and frail decay, pettiness, meaninglessness.

Biting her lip, she stepped back on the pattern and took four more steps. The center was like the calm eye of a storm, a great post-orgasmic stillness. The Pattern opened before her, and she implored it to carry her beyond Lois Lumley's reach.

She hurtled through a vortex of colors and shapes and into darkness, dissolving into nothingness. When she came to rest, Pauline was floating outside the universe. In the hollow place between worlds, the silence between words.

And in the dark, something slithered, and a rough tendril brushed against her cheek.

But Pauline wasn't afraid of the creatures in the void. She was afraid of the universe.

Patrick's Further Investigations

Stalking Miranda

Reassigned to the Paris office, Patrick decided to look up the other "Reincarnate" on his list: Miranda Doyle, a surgeon living in London. He observed her for a month, but had no idea how to approach her without terrifying her with his insane story. It didn't help that he didn't know any Voodoo rituals, or that his detailed map of "rifts in time and space" only covered the United States.

Meanwhile, he turned the focus of his investigations to LIP itself. He began searching for patterns in all the patterns LIP had accumulated in over 70 years of existence. Correlations with his map, with Lois' rug, with the geography of New York and the American national highway system all presented themselves. He extended his analysis into 3 dimensions and more, running sophisticated VR simulations. He considered building a machine using this information; some sort of device that would be able to reproduce artificially what Michael had done naturally. But he clearly didn't have the technology.

Another thought occurred to him. Surely his team couldn't possibly be the first "special projects" group Lois Lumley put together. He became deeply interested in what happened to the earlier teams... The only thing this investigation had turned up was a clock, filed away in some old warehouse. The clock was unusual in that it was still ticking, even if very very slowly. Taking it apart, he found that it was driven by a cogwheel which revolved without any perceptible source, and which kept flickering in and out of existence. He recalled that the old LIP offices (which now only housed an accounting annex, and part of Ms. Lumley's library) had a similar clock, showing the same time - five to Twelve o'clock. However, as remarkable as this was, it remained a curiosity.

He decided that Miranda was his only option - if she really was a Reincarnate, a Carrier.

Carefully contriving the circumstances, he booked himself on the same train from London to Paris as her, and managed to talk with her during most of it. She was friendly, but impressed him as someone who would react very skeptically to his story. They spent an afternoon together in Paris. He decided he liked her very much.

He hated what he had to do to her.

Through Pauline, he got in contact with a local Black Army cell. The cell leader was a young Parisian System Administrator, a good friend of Rolf, named Alain Reno. They met in a small cafe, and Reno told Patrick he was looking for a job. Patrick promised to pass his resume on to LIP HR, with a recommendation. Then he told Reno he wanted Miranda kidnapped and held in a locked room for a few days, unharmed. If she was still there three days later, they were to release her.

If she was a carrier, he reasoned, the power would kick in, and she'd escape.

Reno smiled, took an envelope from him, and promised to e-mail a resume.

Three days after Reno's second interview at LIP, two men kidnapped Miranda Doyle in the hospital parking lot.

Reno called Patrick at 1AM. "There's a problem," he said.

He took a 4AM train, and walked 4 blocks from the tube to the address, an undistinguished suburban house in one of a dozen identical streets.

A skinhead with a pierced tongue called George explained to him that there'd been a struggle, and "they'd had to rough her up a bit". It had "got messy".

There were smears of blood on the linoleum in the room where they had locked her up, clothes scattered about, and flowers drifted down from inside the wallpaper. Patrick picked up Miranda's shattered wristwatch (the strap had snapped) and followed her into the wall.

He found her lying in the shade of a tree, half the way up a hill crowned with a five-towered castle. Below them was a charming rustic town by the sea. The hill was covered with grass and wildflowers. Miranda, curled up like a bloody newborn, was still breathing. Patrick picked her up and walked up to the castle. The massive doors swung open as he approached, but walking through the courtyard and into the hall, his footsteps echoed emptily - there was not a soul in sight.

Something drew him down a massive flight of stairs, and a door adorned with familiar patterns beckoned him. He touched his hand to the door and it opened, revealing a cavernous dark room with a faint design etched on its floor in lines of red fire. He stepped on top of it.

A blast of pure energy shot up his spine as his foot rested on the first line. In his arms, Miranda whimpered. He took another step, and more pain tore it him, blowing away the shock that had gripped him. He knew that the Pattern was a pathway, leading directly to the power he had sought, for which's sake he had destroyed an innocent woman. He took another step, and found he was enjoying it, this power lashing through his mind and body. The flames of the Pattern licked his thighs and danced in his hair, and he was more excited, more eager than he had ever been in his life. The illusion that he was a basically decent person had been shattered into a thousand fragments and scattered to the five winds. When he reached the calm at the center of the Pattern, he almost felt sorry that it was over. 

He stood in the center and found himself transformed: Instead of his plain jeans and windbreaker, he wore a fanciful suit of gleaming armor, and instead of a broken woman, he cradled a huge sword in his arms. The center asked him where he wanted to be, and he told it. He stepped on the bloodied Linoleum with an armored boot, and he could feel Miranda humming in his arms. She was light as a feather when he whirled her it the air, swatting off George's head like a baseball. He heard shouting from the Kitchen, but although Miranda rippled impatiently in his hand, he bent down and gathered her scattered clothes. On a dresser, beside her purse, he found the wedding ring they had pulled off her finger, and slipped it on his own. Then, lifting Miranda high, he turned and walked out. He found a man and a woman in the Kitchen, armed with a pistol and a carving knife. Miranda reaped the bullets from the air, sliced through the hilt of the carving knife and the torso of its unfortunate wielder, and then dissected the gunman. Patrick thought he might have heard a baby crying upstairs, but he wasn't sure. He set fire to the house and walked off into the wall.

Patrick never mentioned Miranda to anyone, not even Pauline. In fact, he wants to convince everyone that Pauline is a Reincarnate, to cover up Miranda's very existence. He has gone so far as erasing any mention of her name in the library of the Castle on the Hill and replacing it with Pauline's.

The Pattern

Since walking their respective Patterns, Pauline and Patrick have reached the following understandings.

The Pattern represents some fundamental, cosmic power. Patrick has described it as "the shape of God", and Pauline, though an atheist, has to agree.

The Pattern is tied to other patterns both in time and space - one can say it extends in all directions throughout the universe. Like a fractal (which it clearly resembles), the Pattern repeats itself on every scale, and there are local sub-patterns that mimic the whole. The Pattern in Lois Lumley's basement and the one in the Castle on the Hill are probably local copies of the true pattern, which we cannot perceive directly.

The first time a person walks the Pattern (and from their experience, anyone who sees the Pattern knows "instinctively" that he or she has an offer to do so, and knows "the rules" for taking this walk), he will be remade - transformed, empowered, changed. If a person walks a Pattern again, he may be unaffected - or be radically transformed. In any case, reaching the center of the Pattern can transport anyone who completed a walk along the Pattern anywhere in time and space - or outside time and space.

The Reincarnates are related to the Pattern in some basic way. They may simply be people who have walked the Pattern repeatedly, and gained some ability to shift between worlds and realities, but another possibility is that they are all related to the same entity that created or safeguards or controls the Pattern - the Thing Inside Lois Lumley.

Since walking the Pattern, Patrick and Pauline have learned of nearly a dozen Reincarnates. Documents in the Castle on the Hill indicate that there are four or five "branches" of Reincarnates, and that they form male-female pairs - either brother/sisters, lovers or perhaps both. Patrick and Pauline play around with classifying these pairs according to elemental correspondences or mythological pantheons.

In addition to these, there's a class of semi-mythic "elders" such as Oberon, the absent master of the castle of the five towers (the Castle on the Hill, which Patrick visited), Charon, the ferryman of Hell, and Yue Lao, a Chinese Magician who appears to be a sort of Fu Manchu figure. Supposedly, the brother/sister pairs are each descended from the same elder (they aren't sure exactly how - they haven't heard of any female "elders"). The Thing Inside Lois Lumely is presumably the Ancestor or progenitor of both the elders and the Reincarnates.

Pauline is pretty sure that Eric Lumley, Lois' father, is responsible for both the Pattern and the Reincarnates. In her vision of this "Cosmogony", Eric Lumley summoned something into our universe - or was possessed by something - that was too big for him to contain - perhaps too big for the universe to contain. So this entity fragmented, in a Kabbalic/Gnostic "Shattering of the Vessels", and its fragments became embedded in different people throughout time and space. Human psychology, unable to comprehend the experience, frames this story in terms of literal descent - Eric Lumley (EL), a fount of infinite power (En Sof) incarnated in a number of avatars - Oberon (the absent ruler of The Castle on The Hill, a dwarf with magical powers and supposedly the embodiment of his intellect), Charon (his dark moods, self-destructive drives) and others - who in turn fragmented further - "fathered" in this process the Reincarnates - "Princes", Loa, demigods. Pauline preferred term for the Reincarnates is "Fragments". This is the story she told Egg Fu, when she was (briefly) his mentor.

Another version of essentially the same story is that since 1924, the existence we know is actually some complex hallucination in which Eric (or Lois) Lumley work out their incestuous fantasies - that we are all trapped in someone else's dream.

Known Reincarnates include Henry Holmes (Knight of Swords, or Wands, and the element Air), Michael McManaman (he now calls himself "Mki", and is black), "Butch", an ex-special forces man who works as a bartender and gun-runner and owns a New York bar called "Butch and Sundance", Lin Pao Shen, a calligrapher and acupuncture specialist residing in Hong Kong, Egg Fu, an American-Chinese dishwasher, " Mama Bridget", a New Orleans artist and drug addict, and Elliot Richards, a NYC coroner. There are probably at least three other female Reincarnates, possibly in alternate realities. Pauline is probably also a Reincarnate, and maps neatly as Henry's "sister".

Pattern Powers

By using the power of the Pattern to "bend" reality around them, Pauline and Patrick can wrap themselves in a sort of force field that protects them from damage, lets them perform incredible feats of strength (punch through walls, for example), and fly. This is practically identical to what Henry Holmes does instinctively.

Pauline also knows how to use focused word-sigils to plant subliminal messages in people's heads, disrupt thought processes and the energy flow needed to maintain a force field.

Patrick has learned how to use the same force field to cloak himself, making himself invisible.

Both of them routinely use Patterns for divination.

Patrick also knows how to travel through time and space ("shadow walk"), or at least knows some shortcuts.

The Plot Against God

Both Pauline and Patrick agree that Lois Lumley is God, or the next closest thing - they sometimes call her the "Demiurge". Both of them think she's an evil abomination who needs to be destroyed. This raises the question, what is she actually doing? Why are they still running around?

One idea, which Pauline favors, is that Lois needs to recover the fragments of God (the other Reincarnates) so that she can end the world or utterly control it. The counter plan to that would be to gather as many fragments as possible to oppose her.

Patrick thinks that Lois still has some Great Work to complete. He thinks that LIP is part of this big project, and that all the patterns LIP is generating and collecting are an attempt to map the whole of reality. He also thinks that Lois is maintaining or building a master Pattern based in New York (or other cities in other realities), through sacred geometry. The Empire State Building is one nexus of this activity.

Pauline and Patrick have decided to take a two-pronged approach to opposing Lois and LIP. The first direction is to bring together as many of the Reincarnates as possible, and perhaps organize them against Lois. Alternatively, they need to prevent Lois from controlling them, or organizing against them.

The second angle is to petition help from the beings that live "outside" the universe and are so beyond the reach of Lois and the Pattern. Pauline had some experience with these creatures - they can be communicated with, using sigils. Some of them can be summoned fairly easily, although they are not very effective against Reincarnates or Elders. However, there is hope that bigger and more powerful "Outsiders" can be invoked with the appropriate measures. The Black Army is a willing if unwitting pawn in this plan.

Currently, they have split up - Pauline monitors the Reincarnates and activity in New York, Patrick is an "ambassador" to the Outsiders.

The Secret Life of Pauline Clarke

Recently, Pauline has detected considerable "shadow-travel" (oddly, not Pattern driven - the work of Reincarnates) in New York. Investigating, she learned that Holmes had visited the "Butch and Sundance" bar, and that two visitors from "out of time" had also come calling - and dragged a large "outsider" along with them. Most intriguing, McManaman has also been spotted in the area. Then, frustratingly, they all vanished.

A month later, Holmes, Butch and McManaman resurfaced, contacted an NPO called the Sunday Foundation, and began to flash a lot of money around. Butch left for Arizona on business, but McManaman and Holmes stayed together.

Pauline's business with the Black Army was progressing well. With Rolf's help, she was putting together a Sigil/Pattern based program which she hoped could generate a channel through which would allow direct communication with - and eventual summoning of - the Outsiders.

Pauline Clarke initiated contact with Henry Holmes in a Manhattan Coffee shop. She was reading a Peter Carroll book, struck up a conversation with him, and they discovered they knew each other vaguely from posts on Usenet.

The next day she heard that Owen Rollins Rolf's friend (and hers - she had sort-of brought him together with his girlfriend, who was Michael McManaman's Ex) had been murdered - ritually mutilated and tattooed with sigils. A news story a week earlier about child abuse - which also involved sigils marked on a baby - had already made her jumpy, and worried about continuing work with the Black Army. Rolf tried to reassure her, and took her out to their favorite Greenwich Village Dance club, where she met Henry Holmes again, this time with two of his friends, Michael (McManaman) and a gloomy pathologist called Elliot Richards. Michael didn't seem to recognize her, and his behavior made it clear that he had considerable gaps in his memory. Later on, she, Michael and Rolf headed for her apartment, where they spent some time and talked. Eventually, Rolf left and Michael stayed. They had sex. While Pauline was asleep, Michael got up, hacked her computer (it was running some kind of remote access software - "MacOrifice" - and a lot of files had been downloaded from it), turned the gorilla statuette to face the wall, and left without waking her.

More importantly, a disc containing a copy of the sigil program she had worked on with Rolf (she didn't have a copy on her Mac - Rolf was paranoid, and it was PC software anyway) was also missing. Had Michael taken it, or had Rolf?

Later in the day she got e-mail from an old friend still working at LIP. McManaman had come around the office and asked a lot of questions about his old team. 

Pauline didn't like this - Holmes and McManaman, wandering around together, clueless - what if they ran into Lois? She called the old LIP offices, where she knew Lois would occasionally spend time. Lois was there. Pauline hung up. She called the neighboring office and convinced the receptionist to keep an eye out for suspicious characters, saying she was with Empire State Building Security.

Then she went over to Rolf's apartment and asked him about the disc. He said he didn't know about it, and that maybe Michael stole it. She saw he was lying, but she couldn't find it anywhere. Pauline told him she was worried that Michael might assault someone at LIP, and asked him to come with her to the old LIP offices. He invited two other Black Army goons along with him. They entered the building when she got a call from the receptionist opposite LIP telling her of three men who were in the LIP offices.

Pauline and her cronies stormed into LIP, and a very rapid fight ensued. Elliot put a broken bottle to Lois' throat, and they both fainted, Holmes smashed a lot of furniture around and threw one Black Army goon across the room. Michael punched the other goon in the groin, took his gun, and shot Rolf.

Point blank. In the Head.

Pauline didn't have much time to react, though, because she had her hands full tussling with Holmes. He was stronger, she was faster, and in the end she went out of the window and made her escape while he tried to stop a desk from crashing to the street.

Pauline trails them at a distance as they leave the Empire State Building and go to the Green Lotus restaurant, where they meet a Chinese guy (Egg Fu). She enters the restaurant through the Kitchen, tries to listen in on them. More out of spite than anything, she sends Henry a taunt in e-mail, and waves at him as he looks up.

Big mistake. He slams into her hard, knocking her into the Kitchen. Michael comes after her, and she squashes him with a freezer door, dislocating his shoulder. Henry chases her out the kitchen and into the back alley. Pauline takes to the air. Henry chases her, throws her into an abandoned office building, smashed a Photocopier on her, and knocks her down 4 floors into the cellar. Then he drags her to a safehouse for questioning.

The safehouse is big and empty - a place where you could hold a party. There's a fire escape outside, where Elliot is talking to the nervous Chinese guy - she recognizes him as Egg Fu, one of Rolf's friends, whom they originally met at a Calligraphy exhibition. Henry and Michael ask her questions, and she gives them cryptic answers.

They know too little to ask the right questions.

Eventually, Pauline gets tired of this. She uses a power word (the Lord's prayer backwards) to neutralize Hank's powers. She throws him across the room, bends McManaman's wounded arm, and rushes Egg. She grabs Egg and flies out of the window.

She escapes, and questions Egg, who quickly blurts out that Holmes and his crew were looking for something Rolf gave him. She flies him to his apartment building, landing on the roof. In his apartment, he gives her the disc, and then she beats a quick getaway (ducking down a manhole and flying down the sewers - her outfit was ruined anyway) just as Hank, Elliot and Michael arrive.

A couple of Weeks pass. Holmes & Michael drop out of sight. Pauline keeps a discreet watch both on Elliot (he's working for the Sunday Foundation now, and is spending time with a female co-worker) and Egg. Both of them, she suspects, are "Fragments" (Reincarnates).

Fu tracks down Pauline to a dance club, where he finds her talking to the sound/lighting technician. (The technician is called Alain, Pauline met him through Rolf, and he's also part of the Black Army. Pauline gave him a copy of the disc, set up so that it'd run the Pattern program through the club's laser show). Fu asks Pauline to mentor him. She agrees, takes him out, and throws him through the air, teaching him to fly.

However, Pauline suddenly senses they're being watched. Spooked, she says a Chinese word to Egg (it's a power word meant to divert attention from her to Egg) and flies away. Egg flies after her, but is attacked by a wall.

A while later, Pauline is standing on a rooftop when Egg appears next to her. He is much changed, and dressed like an ancient Chinese martial artist. He asks her to explain what the hell is going on, what is this "Pattern", why does Holmes go on about them all being "Brothers" and so forth. She explains to him her theory about the Fragments and Eric Lumley.

Egg takes Pauline to meet Holmes. He too is much changed, but he's still fiddling with his PDA - except it's clearly operating on pure magic now. They head to a bar in Harlem and travel in time there to the 1920's, where they meet Mki (Michael, who is now black) and Elliot (who now has Red Hair and a Kris). Elliot tells them that on this very night, Eric Lumley will ritually drown his daughter - something he saw in a vision.

They head to the waterfront, but it's still early. However, they get attacked, and Elliot is wounded. Mki tracks their attackers to a warehouse in Chinatown, and he, Egg and Mki storm in. Pauline stays in the alley with Elliot, who falls asleep and then vanishes. After waiting for a while, she is transported magically to the ornate oriental Sanctum of Yue Lao, below the warehouse, where the others are waiting. Lao explains that the attack was a mistake, and sends them back to confront Lumley. Pauline realizes that Lao is some sort of Elder, and instantly distrusts him - he is clearly some reflection of Lumley, in her opinion. Egg is confused by her attitude.

Elliot rejoins them at the waterfront in time for Lumley's car to arrive. They are unable to stop the car, or approach Lumley as he drags Lois' limp form out of the car.

Patrick appears attacks them, stunning Pauline and knocking her into the water. Henry and Mki fight Patrick, who is both invisible and has powers like Henry's. Mki summons a bizarre phallic magic weapon and blasts Patrick with it, shredding his invisibility. Henry punches through Patrick's weakened force field, apparently killing him.

Egg rescues Pauline, while Elliot tries to interfere with the ritual. Elliot throws his Kris at Eric Lumley, but it freezes in the air before hitting him. Eric then snatches it from the air and uses it to cut both his and Lois' arms, mixing their blood. Then he drops Lois into the East river. As dawn rises, Lois climbs out of the water, and drives her and Eric back to their house. The PCs rush to the Lumley house, enter and go to the cellar, they try and tamper with it (it houses Lumley's occult lab), they go through his books. Then Elliot has an idea, he runs out into the garden and back into the house using the same route Lois Lumley used earlier. The others follow, and they find Lois Lumley in the cellar. Eric is on his knees before her, head thrown backwards, his chest cut open, and Lois is holding up his beating heart. A piercing beam from the heart in her hands is drawing the pattern.

The pattern completes and erupts outwards like unfolding complexity, filling the world. Lights out.

Around them, everything is dark, but slowly, details and light begin to appear: the stars light up in the sky, grass grows beneath their feet, and mountains rise in the distance. They begin to walk, and presently arrive at a castle, just before dawn.

They reach the castle, are greeted by Irene, who shows them their bedrooms. They go to sleep - but there's also the "Hot Chocolate" incident: Egg comes to wake Pauline and finds Mki in her room.

Why did Pauline choose to sleep with Mki after he murdered her friend Rolf in cold blood? Maybe she's hopelessly attracted, maybe she enjoys flirting with danger, or maybe she's just curious - of the entire group, his powers are the most mysterious to her. Perhaps she just did it because she knew it would piss off Egg. Off course, none of this is Machiavellian enough to be worthy of Pauline. My best idea is that she wants to steal his power - either through analyzing his aura to learn his tricks, or by stealing his fragment and making it her own.

The morning passes quietly, although there is the disconcerting experience of meeting "younger" versions of many Reincarnates - A young Egg, a teenage Butch, a studious Henry - there are also Irene (Butch's sister), Pao Lin (Egg's sister - and the name itself seems suspicious), Jasmine (Mki's sister?) and Bridget (Elliot's sister). The "younger" versions of Mki and Elliot - called Erasmus here - are "away". There is no mention of Henry's sister, although in the library, they discover a family tree. The tree is star-shaped, and has 5 branches which look like this:

EL => Charon => Erasmus / Bridget

EL => Oberon => Henry / Pauline

EL => Elegba => Mki / Jasmine

EL => Yue Lao => Egg Fu / Pao Lin

EL => Luvah => William / Irene

Egg is clearly very angry at Pauline for sleeping with Mki. He asks Pao Lin how to contact Yue Lao, and soon after rides off - not before warning Pauline that Yue Lao has warned him of great danger, and that they should leave at once.

Shortly after they settle down for tea (where Bridget makes a dramatic appearance), someone comes down the stairs. It's Butch, and he's heavily armed. He apparently arrived through a passage in the cellar, and was sent here by Patrick. As Henry and Irene take Butch down to show him the Pattern, and Elliot talks to Bridget, Pauline and Mki go back to their rooms.

They nap, and Mki goes out for a walk outside the Castle. He returns spooked - he's seen something outside. He wakes Pauline. Elliot is gone, Henry and Butch are gone, and something nasty could be approaching.

Pauline takes Mki down to the Pattern. The attack will be targeted at the Pattern, she says, and by walking it, they can charge up its power and be ready for the attack.

Pauline suggests that Mki's friends might have something to do with the attack. Egg, she says, is working with this Yue Lao character, who knows what he's up to? - He knew about the attack - perhaps he's behind it? And where did Elliot go?

They walk the Pattern and complete it. Mki passes out, Pauline is standing over him in the center of the Pattern as everyone (Hank, Butch, Elliot and the younger Reincarnates) rush in, after a rough fight with invisible gargoyles (Outsiders? Summoned by Pauline?) in the higher floors of the castle.

Pauline helps Mki to his feet, and he draws his sword to face the newcomers - than whirls and chops her head off.

Or tries to. Because Pauline isn't there anymore - the Pattern has taken her away.

I'm not 100% decided who was behind what in this scene. If you have no good idea what Pauline's part in this is, just be mysterious. Or tell them she was mind-controlled - it could be the truth.

If you do think Pauline was doing something sneaky, she may have learned to mimic some of Mki's powers, or found some way to exert magical leverage over him.

She may have been trying to destroy the Pattern (maybe even summoning the gargoyles herself), to gain control of it somehow, or simply to sow some discord among the other Fragments/Reincarnates, to weaken the Holmes/Mki faction. 
Pauline reappears in New York, September 12th, 2001. She spends a while in shock, checking on her family, friends and acquaintances. About a week after her return, she meets Alain (the technician she gave the disc) at her favorite dance club, around noon when the place is still closed - except for them and the bartender, there's no one around. 

Alain is pretty distraught, and his face is bruised. He tells her he spilled the beans about the disc to his cell leader and was contacted by someone higher-up in the Black Army organization. This man, Louis (Alain is clearly scared by this guy) had him contact a Kuwaiti called Ghassan Al-Massri, who is part of Al-Quaida, Osama Bin Laden's network. Apparently, Rolf had been doing Al-Massri favours for a while, and had helped Al-Quaida with encryption and other technical issues. Louis wanted to keep the connection to Al-Quaida, and appointed Alain as the new contact man. Louis also instructed Alain to pass on some of Rolf's software - as well as the program he'd got from Pauline - to Al-Massri.

Now, strangest of all, Ghassan was supposed to deliver some discs back to Alain to pass on to the Black Army, after "something big" happened. After the events of the 11th of September, Alain realized that it had something to do with the terror attacks.

Yesterday, Al-Massri came to meet Alain in a Black Army front office. He was hysterical, having just heard from his wife that his brother Ali had been attacked and killed in what looked like a Hate crime. He brought with him two discs, a bad fever, and company - people Pauline recognized from Alain's descriptions as Holmes, Mki and Elliot Richards. A fourth man was with them, a young Arab in loose gray clothes who flew out of windows and stopped Alain's girlfriend when she tried to escape in her car.

Ghassan had collapsed moments before the four intruders burst in, roughed Alain up, threatened him and his girlfriend, and left, taking all their discs and Al Massri as well.

Alain also says that when his girlfriend called a security man, these guys waved around NSA IDs, before handcuffing the security man in a closet.

Perhaps Pauline smelled trouble. She went to the bathroom, and when she was there she heard people come into the club. She heard Mki call her name out, and ducked into the Men's room. He came looking for her in the Ladies' room, and she attacked him through the wall. He dodged and hacked at her with his sword (her force field saved her this time). She could hear his friends coming, and high-tailed her way out - right through the walls, then up into the sky. Mki still managed to land a blow that pierced her field and cut into her thigh as she broke away, and another flyer hurtled after her.

The flyer was the young Arab, dressed up in Egg Fu's light gray costume. He intercepted her, and they are currently whirling over and between the buildings of Greenwich Village, exchanging blows in a violent aerial ballet. Peripherally, Pauline thinks she's noticed Mki running along a nearby rooftop.

Pauline's Notes on the other PCs:

These aren't Pauline's exhaustive opinions, just a few points.

Henry Holmes:

Pauline is sort of a Supergirl to Henry's Superman, but she knows she's clearly superior. Holmes is this introverted super nerd obsessed with hacking, and Pauline still owes him one for the Photocopier, and the MacOrifice. One day, for kicks, she should hack his ass.

Michael C. McManaman / Mki:

He's charming, and he's an utter psychopath. He was scary enough as this Scottish/Irish Ex-CIA spook, and he's even scarier as this magical African prince, with a graphite-gray suit and a nasty sword. He moves faster than the eye can follow, he has senses sharper than a jungle cat's, and he's quite adept at little conjuring tricks.

Elliot Richards:

Smarter than the rest, but a wimp - his lack of physical power has given him something of an inferiority complex. Richards apparently goes into odd meditative trances, and sometimes vanishes into them altogether. He can apparently travels to the Underworld, and reach practically anywhere by boating along the Styx. Richards is eager to learn more about his powers, which appear to be different from those of other Reincarnates.

Egg Fu:

Young, enthusiastic and gullible, it's fun playing mind-games with him. His mysterious "family" - the elder Yue Lao and his daughter, Pao Lin - seem to take an active interest, even if they prefer to hover at the sidelines, and they worry Pauline.

Egg's sudden transformation into an Arab since their last meeting probably isn't too surprising compared to the ethnic change that Michael underwent, but its timing is disturbing.

Patrick Donovan's Second Career

Patrick has spent a lot less time "on camera" in the campaign, so obviously his background is much shorter than Pauline's. Improvise.

While still officially residing in Paris, Patrick spends much of his time traveling - not only to LIP clients, but also to other worlds and spaces between worlds. He keeps in touch with Pauline, although they rarely meet face-to-face. He also maintains some contacts with the Black Army, although Alain Reno has moved to the US since Patrick got him his job at LIP.

Perhaps Patrick's favorite place is the Castle on the Hill (also known as The Castle of the Five Towers, or Oberon's Castle, or Castle Amber, for no good reason). No one lives in the Castle, although it has occasional visitors, and the rooms and grounds are magically maintained. The people living in the town by the sea, below the Castle, rarely go there - they say it is the Castle of the king Oberon, who went away long ago, and is kept untouched until the day of his return. Patrick has met one Reincarnate - the Lady Irene, from a renaissance-period Alternate world, who occasionally visits, but she says little about the place, except that she remembers it as a child.

The reason Patrick thinks the Castle is so special - besides being one of the very few places where a Pattern can be found - is that this is the place that Miranda tried to reach when she was hurt. He thinks that she had an instinctive, unconscious memory of the castle, and perhaps, in a previous existence, she lived here, like the lady Irene.

But to reach Miranda in that previous existence, Patrick would need to travel back in time in the world of the Castle, and he was unable to do so.

The Outsiders - the nonhuman beings that lived outside the universe and between worlds - seemed to know something of the Castle as well. They had heard of it from the "Wayward Children of EL", the first Reincarnates who had visited them shortly after what they called "the change", when the universe assumed its current "shape". They told Patrick that it was a world formed as the immediate result of the change, bubbling out from the cosmic "big bang" which had taken place in 1924.

In that moment, they told him, the Pattern universe was vulnerable. One of the wayward children, "the dark sibling", had talked to them about attacking EL's edifice then and there, at its point of origin.

Patrick was gravely concerned. If the universe were destroyed at its birth, would the Reincarnates exist? Would he ever be able to reach Miranda?

So he set on a path to the time when the Pattern was born, in 1924. He plotted a cunning path, which would pass through time and then directly into the newborn world of the Castle that would be created in the aftermath of Lumley's ritual.

He realized that there were two vulnerable points - 1924 New York, when Lumley carried out his ritual, and the Castle at the dawn, when it's world was newborn and its Pattern freshly created. He could be at one point, but probably not at both. He needed help.

So he hired Butch. Butch was a Reincarnate and a soldier, and had experience in accepting bizarre events without raising an eyebrow. Patrick met Butch and his bag of guns in a subway station, and they boarded a train that traveled along the path Patrick had chosen. To make sure Butch could take on whatever challenges he might face, he armed him with his ace - the sword Miranda.

And then he got off at the first stop, in 1924, sending Butch to the Pattern Castle and whatever awaited him there - if it existed at all. Though he wished to see Miranda, he couldn't escape the fear that the train might be hurtling calmly along his path into a void of nonexistence.

He doubted he could endure nothingness again. (This doesn't mean anything - it's just the sort of thing you say.)

He burned some time finding Lumley, just as he drove off in his car with his unconscious daughter. He flew after that car with all his speed, but he seemed to be frozen in the air like in glass, unable to catch up.

When he finally reached the waterfront, a group of Reincarnates was waiting, ready to interfere with the ritual. He saw Pauline among them. It was too late to talk - he launched himself at them, taking Pauline by surprise and knocking her into the East river. Holmes and a black man whom was somehow McManaman (he recognized the voice, the gestures, the mean right hook) took him to the cleaners. McManaman conjured up what looked like a glittery purple dildo and blasted away at his force field, and Holmes seized the moment and punched through it. He blacked out, uncertain if he would awake.

When he woke up, he was lying on flat earth beneath an empty sky, slowly filling with stars. Shoots of grass where springing up beneath him, and the air was alive with the musky smells of growing things.

He was in the Pattern world, although the geography was strange and flat. All around him, the world was being born. In the distance, he heard hushed voices, almost reverent, but they drew away and eventually he found himself alone. He rose, and saw the ground swell in the distance into newborn mountains. He began to walk towards them.

Eventually he came to the Castle, as dawn approached. Pauline, Holmes, McManaman and the others were already inside, and a young version of Lady Irene greeted them and led them to their chambers. Stealthily (but not invisibly), Patrick stole inside and began wandering the Castle.

He found her stirring in her sleep as everyone else went to bed, slowly awaking to the world's first dawn (although time here, clearly, didn't flow in any discernable pattern, and seemed to move at a purely subjective rate). She was perhaps Sixteen years old, maybe younger, and beautiful.

He still had no idea how to approach her.

But he tried. Like the others in the Castle, there was something dreamlike about this Miranda, a weak grasp on causality, and only loose memories of her life in the Castle and in the past. He presented himself with care and the utmost courtesy, warned her of approaching danger, and told her they must leave the Castle.

Although he was tempted to take the Pattern, or search the cellars and dungeons for the subway station he knew must be there (where Butch should eventually arrive), he decided to avoid the attention and plotted a different path. As they walked across the grass beyond the Castle towards the nearing towers of New York, Miranda clutching his hand tightly, he imagined he heard claws screeching along the barrier between the world and the void, as the Outsiders marched towards the Castle.

But then they left that world behind, and the rolling grass became the turf of Central Park.

And on the Skyline, smoke rose from the towers...

It's now been over a week since September the 11th. Patrick has rented a tiny apartment and moved in with Miranda. She's adjusting to New York City amazingly fast, and finds her life fascinating. Patrick has been checking around quietly, and knows the Pauline is back. He's also heard from his co-worker in Paris that Holmes & McManaman came looking for him. McManaman was still white back then.

But what worries him the most is that it's clear to him that the attack on the twin towers is something more than a terrorist act. It's a direct assault on the carefully cultivated sacred geometry of Lois Lumley's meta-Pattern. It's the first act of the Final War, and he has no idea where the battle-lines will be drawn, and on whose side he'll end up.

